A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in dismissing the claims of the 

individual, small group and large group classes under the filed rate 

doctrine. 

2. The trial court erred in dismissing the claims of the 

individual, small group and large group classes under the doctrine of 

primary jurisdiction. 

3. The trial court erred in dismissing the claims of the 

individual, small group and large group classes for failure to exhaust 

administrative remedies. 

4. The trial court erred in dismissing the claims of the 

individual, small group and large group classes because the record 

reflected the existence of substantial and material issues offactwhich 

precluded summary judgment. 

Assignment of Error No.1 
Issues Related to Filed Rate Doctrine 

(a) Should the court apply the filed rate doctrine on the 

disputed facts in this case of first impression in Washington. 

1 



(b) Does the plaintiffs' challenge to the amassment and 

retention of an enormous excess surplus in any event amount to a 

challenge to the rates within the purview of the filed rate doctrine? 

(c) Plaintiffs contend that the defendants employed false 

advertising and false marketing practices of "increased buying power" 

and "a pooling of a large number of employers" and "the ability to 

negotiate high quality benefits at the lowest possible cost." These do 

not constitute a direct attack on rates. Did the trial court commit error 

in ignoring the precedents, including the Washington Supreme Court 

case of Tenore v. AT& T Wireless Services, 136 Wn.2d 322, 962 P.2d 

104 (1998), cert denied 525 U.S. 1171, 119 S.Ct. 1096, 143 L.Ed.2d 

95, holding that unless the allegation of false advertising constitutes 

a direct attack on rates, the filed rate doctrine does not apply? 

(d) Is the claim in plaintiffs' complaint that the defendant 

trust WAHIT has illegally and falsely represented that it is a "member

governed" group, a false representation that has enabled it to 

"selectively underwrite" its coverages thereby contributing to the 

excess surplus - a claim that, as an underwriting claim, has nothing 

to do with filed rates or the filed rate doctrine? 
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(e) Should the filed rate doctrine be applied where, as the 

plaintiffs' complaint alleges, the defendant surplus levels have not 

been produced merely by the rates charged, but also by the profit 

from defendants' investments, a component of at least $250 million 

of the surplus presently held? 

Assignment of Error No.2 
Re Primary Jurisdiction 

(a) In view of the fact that all of the claims brought by the 

plaintiffs are for violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act 

for unfair or deceptive acts or practices in trade or commerce, are 

these not issues within the conventional competence of the courts not 

requiring referral to an administrative agency? 

(b) In the event that referral to administrative agency is 

necessary or desirable, should not the court retain jurisdiction to 

determine the issues after the completion of such a referral? 

(c) In view of the fact that the Insurance Commissioner has 

publicly stated that the surplus levels maintained by the defendants 

are excessive and has proposed legislation unsuccessfUlly to correct 

this situation, is there any necessity to refer the issues here to the 

Commissioner? 
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(d) Do the court remedies sought by the plaintiffs in anyway 

conflict with the administrative regulatory scheme? 

Assignment of Error No.3 
Exhaustion of Remedies 

(a) Does the exhaustion of remedies doctrine require that 

there be an effective remedy at the administrative level that plaintiffs 

could have pursued, i.e., money damages and attorney's fees? 

(b) In view of the fact that the Washington Insurance 

Commissioner by statute has no authority to limit or control excessive 

surplus held by a health insurer, was any effective remedy available 

to the plaintiffs? If the only available remedy available to the plaintiffs 

would have been a hearing pursuant to the Administrative Procedure 

Act and by the express terms of that act if such hearing would be 

patently inadequate or futile, should exhaustion of remedies apply? 

Assignment of Error No.4 
Issues of Fact 

Did the trial court ignore or fail to recognize the existence of 

substantial material fact issues in the record, including (a) the issue 

whether the defendant, through their subsidiary WAHIT, by falsely 

advertising that it is a "member-governed" group engaged in a 

selective underwriting, thereby contributing to the excess surplus, and 
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(b) whether the defendants through WAHIT engaged in deceptive 

marketing practices described in the issues relating to the Filed Rate 

Doctrine above? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a class action filed in January, 2012 by the plaintiffs 

alleging violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, 

Chapter 19.86. The plaintiffs are four corporations, two limited liability 

companies and one individual. The individual plaintiff and all of the 

employees of the other plaintiffs during the four year period prior to 

the filing of this action were subscribers to health insurance coverage 

from the defendants. (Complaint, CP 2.) All of the defendants are 

owned or controlled by the parent corporation, PREMERA. (Exhibit 

B to Complaint, CP 52.) Two of the defendant corporations 

(PREMERA Blue Cross and Lifewise Health Plan of Washington) are 

health care service contractors as defined in RCW 48.44.010(9) 

selling health insurance policies to the public. The remaining two 

defendants are a trust, Washington Alliance for Health Insurance 

Trust (WAH IT) which was formed by PREMERA Blue Cross to sell 

PREMERA health insurance policies, and its individual trustee, F. 

Bentley Lovejoy. (Exhibit A to Fackler Declaration, CP 233-4.) 
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The defendant corporations are all non-profit entities. 

PREMERA was formed pursuant to RCW Ch. 24.06, the Washington 

Non-profit Miscellaneous & Mutual Corporations Act, and the other 

defendant corporations were formed pursuant to RCW Ch. 24.03, the 

Washington Non-profit Act. PREMERA Blue Cross maintains four 

subsidiaries, one of which has seven subsidiaries, including some for-

profit entities. (CP 52 and CP 228.) The defendant trust (WAHIT) 

sells health insurance policies to the public and is a tax exempt entity 

pursuant to Internal Revenue Code 501 (c)(9) (Exhibit A to Fackler 

Declaration, CP 233-4-5.) 

Defendant PREMERA Blue Cross presently holds in excess of 

$1 billion in surplus (p. 6 of Fackler Declaration, CP 230) an amount 

that plaintiffs contend is far in excess of amounts necessary to 

maintain reasonable solvency, violating public policy for a corporation 

chartered as a Washington non-profit to amass and retain such an 

amount of surplus.1 Plaintiffs' complaint points out that the 

1 It is important to point out the difference between the terms 
"surplus" and "reserves." "Surplus" is defined as "a company's assets minus 
its liabilities," (CP 131.) "Reserves" are defined in WAC 284-43-910(8) as 
"claim reserves" means the "claims" that have been reported but not paid 
plus the 'claims' that have not been reported but may be reasonably 
expected." 
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Washington Insurance Commissioner, for years, has sponsored 

proposed legislation to limit retention by non-profit health insurers of 

excessive surplus and to give to the office of the Insurance 

Commissioner the right to consider in the rate approval process the 

amount of the health insurers surplus levels. (CP 17.) 

Plaintiffs contend that the rates that have been charged by the 

defendants for health coverage have been invested in for-profit 

subsidiaries, a misuse of the premiums collected and a breach of duty 

to the subscribers. The surplus is excessive with a large component 

of the surplus, approximately $250 million, composed of investment 

profits, separate from the rates that have been charged. (Fackler 

Declaration, p. 5, CP 229 and 251-2.) 

Plaintiffs contend that the conduct of the defendants in 

amassing the surplus has been unfair, deceptive and in violation of 

the provisions of the Washington Consumer Protection Act and the 

State Insurance Code, in the following particulars: 

(a) Claiming on the website of the defendant trust (WAH IT) 

that it is an "employer governed trust." This advertisement is 

demonstrably false. The employers purchasing coverage for their 

employees from WAHIT have nothing to do with governing and 
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management of the trust. (Fackler Declaration, CP 233-4-5 and Luke 

Hemphill Declaration, CP 254.) 

(b) That the defendant trust, a subsidiary of the PREMERA 

companies, falsely advertises that as a result of its "increased buying 

power" and a "pooling of a large number of employers," it is able to 

obtain coverage for purchasing employers at the "lowest possible 

cost," and that the trust is able to "negotiate" and obtain high quality 

benefits at the "most affordable cost." (CP 254, 259, 261.) These 

representations are all false. The only such price "negotiation" has 

been done by the PREMERA companies, and they do not, in 

obtaining provider agreements, negotiate any lower "cost" for the 

employer subscribers of the WAHIT trust. This is because the only 

health policies sold by WAHIT are PREMERA policies. 

(c) A member-governed group (which the WAHIT trust 

claims to be but is not) is exempt from the Washington Insurance 

Code provisions relating to community rating and small group 

guaranteed issue laws. (Fackler Declaration, CP 227 and CP 240.) 

This statutory exemption, if available, permits selective underwriting 

in the offering of its health insurance coverages. (Fackler Declaration 

CP 227 and CP 240.) Selective underwriting allows a member-
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governed group to select who it is willing to cover in the first instance 

and what modifications it is able to make to the coverages during the 

coverage period. Plaintiffs contend that by falsely claiming to be a 

"member governed group" the defendants, through their subsidiary 

WAH IT have unfairly, deceptively and wrongfully engaged in selective 

underwriting which has contributed to the excess surplus presently 

maintained by the defendant companies. (Complaint, CP 8-9.) 

The case was originally filed in January of 2012. An 

approximate 5-month delay occurred as a result of the defendants' 

removal of the cause to the United States District Court for the 

Western District of Washington, assigned to the Honorable District 

Judge John Coughenour. (CP 53 through 73.) Plaintiffs filed a motion 

to remand to state court and on May 29, 2012, Judge Coughenour 

granted the motion to remand, identifying at p. 1 of his opinion 

plaintiffs' allegations in the following language (CP 78-9): 

Plaintiffs challenge the health insurance rates that the 
PREMERA defendants - non-profit corporations - have 
charged and their alleged accumulation of over $1 
billion in excess surplus. Plaintiffs further claim that 
WAHIT misled customers through false marketing and 
served as a conduit for the PREMERA defendants' 
wrongful amassment of excess surplus. 
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Plaintiffs' complaint identified three putative classes, namely 

Class A, the "large group" involving the sale of health insurance 

policies to employer groups of more than 50 persons, Class B, the 

small group consisting of sales to employee groups of at least one but 

not more than 50 employees, and Class C, the individual group of 

purchasers, with the individual plaintiff, Annette Steiner, proposed as 

class representative. (CP 6.) 

The defendants' first motion was presented to the Honorable 

Joan DuBuque as a CR 12(b)(6) motion seeking dismissal of all 

claims brought by the individual and small group classes Band C. 

(CP 97.) Three defenses were offered by the defendants in their joint 

motion, namely, the filed rate doctrine, primary jurisdiction and 

exhaustion of remedies. (CP 100 through 109.) After argument at 

the hearing on September 28, 2012, the court granted the defense 

motion, dismissing all of the claims of the Band C classes under all 

three of the defenses claimed. (CP 157. The 36-page transcript of 

this hearing is in the record of Clerk's papers under a single page 

number, CP 159.) 
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The. trial court did not retain jurisdiction and did not refer the 

matter to the Office of Insurance Commissioner, as is frequently the 

case in primary jurisdiction rulings. 

The defendants later presented a motion for summary 

judgment under CR 56 (CP 160) to dismiss the claims of Class A, the 

"large group" based upon the same three defenses, filed rate doctrine, 

primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of remedies, submitting briefs (CP 

160 and 262) and receiving briefs and declarations in opposition from 

the plaintiffs. (CP 181 and 209, 225, 253.) The 40-page transcript of 

this hearing is in the record of Clerk's Papers under a single page 

number, CP 273.) 

At the hearing on this second motion on January 4, 2013, for 

summary judgment, the trial court granted all three defenses 

dismissing finally all claims in the litigation. (CP 274.) 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. Filed Rate Doctrine Issue (a) 
Should the Doctrine be Applied to Health Insurance Rates? 

It is not possible to predict with any certainty that this court or 

our Supreme Court will apply the Filed Rate Doctrine to health insurer 

rates. The decisions of our courts to date on filed rate were correctly 
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summarized by United States District Judge James L. Robart in 

Blaylock v. First American Title Insurance Co., 504 F.Supp.2d 1091, 

1101 (W.O. Wa. 2007) rejecting the doctrine in a case involving title 

insurance rates: 

Washington has little case law on the filed rate doctrine. 
The parties have not cited, nor is the court aware of a 
decision discussing the application of the doctrine to 
challenges to insurance rates, let alone title insurance 
rates, nor even rates set by a state regulatory agency. 
There is a single decision by the Washington Supreme 
Court discussing application of the doctrine. Tenore v. 
A T& T Wireless Services. 

Unquestionably, since its inception in Keogh v. Chicago & 

Northwestern Railway Co., 260 U.S. 156,43 S.Ct. 47, 67 L.Ed. 183 

(1922), the doctrine has been applied, with some limitations, to rates 

filed and established by federal agencies, such as the Interstate 

Commerce Commission (ICC) and Federal Communications 

Commission (FCC) but three issues are present here. Should the 

Washington Appellate Courts apply the doctrine to rates filed with a 

state, rather than a federal agency,2 should the doctrine be applied to 

insurance rates in any event, and most importantly, in view of the 

2 In Knevelbard v. Kraft Foods, Inc., et aI., 232 F.3d 979 (Ca. 9 
2000) California rejected application of the doctrine to rates set by state 
regulatory agencies. 
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Insurance Commissioner's public statements that the amount of 

surplus held by the health insurers is excessive, and his legislative 

attempts to control surplus of health insurance, should the filed rate 

doctrine be applied to health insurance rates. 

Unless the Washington courts apply a broad interpretation of 

the filed rate doctrine, it will not be applied to health care rates in 

Washington. Thus far, the only Washington Supreme Court decision 

has given the filed rate doctrine a narrow and restrictive interpretation. 

Judge Robarts' description of Tenore v. A T& T Wireless, supra 

as a decision "discussing application of the filed rate doctrine," is an 

understatement. Tenore severely criticized how the doctrine has 

been "invoked rigidly even to bar claims of a fraud or 

misrepresentation" citing four decisions, including Taffet v. Southern 

Co., 967 F .2d 1483 which held that the doctrine takes away all 

remedies available to "overcharged or defrauded customers." A 

decision like that deserves criticism. 

And, at the time Tenore was decided, the only other 

Washington case involving the filed rate (or "filed tariff" doctrine) was 

an appellate decision in Hardy v. Claircom Communications Group, 

Inc., 86 Wn. App. 488, 937 P.2d 1128 (1997). In that case in facts 
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similar to Tenore but involving rates filed with a Federal agency, the 

Court of Appeals ruled that all of the plaintiff's claims were barred by 

both the filed tariff doctrine and federal preemption. The Tenore trial 

court had decided that the Hardy decision was "controlling" and 

dismissed all the plaintiff's claims. The Supreme Court granted direct 

review of Tenore. 

The Tenore decision ultimately ruled that (a) plaintiff's claim of 

damage from defendant's failure to disclose in its advertising its 

practice of "rounding up" telephone charges to the next full minute 

was merely an indirect attack on rates; (b) defendant's contention that 

plaintiffs' claim was merely a disguised form of an attack on the 

reasonableness of rates was rejected, and (c) since the case did not 

involve a direct challenge to the rates being charged, the competence 

of the administrative agency was not involved and all issues in the 

case were within the conventional competence of the courts to 

decide. 
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2. Filed Rate Doctrine Issue (b) 
Plaintiffs' Challenge to Amassment of 

Excess Surplus Is Not a Challenge to Filed Rates 

The issue whether a plaintiff's challenge to the amount of 

surplus held by a non-profit health insurer is a challenge of filed rates 

was directly involved in the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania in 

Ciamaichelo v. Independence Blue Cross, 909 A. 2d 1211 (Pa. 2006). 

It was a class action against defendant Independence Blue Cross, 

brought by a proposed class composed of the Blue Cross 

subscribers, policyholders and members. The complaint alleged that 

Independence Blue Cross had accumulated excess funds which were 

called surplus amounting to at least $349 million and perhaps as 

much as $438 million, that the surplus accumulated was excessive 

because the amount was not needed for Blue Cross' ongoing 

operations or financial solvency, and that the surplus was dedicated 

to purposes inconsistent with its non-profit status, including 

investments in for-profit subsidiaries. The matter was before the 

Supreme Court on an appeal from the Commonwealth Court of 

Pennsylvania, an intermediate appellate court, which had agreed with 

Blue Cross and applied the filed rate doctrine. The court described 

the doctrine as a rule that preserves the exclusive role of a regulatory 
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agency in approving rates. The Commonwealth Court had also ruled 

that any decision that Blue Cross was holding excessive reserves 

would necessarily require a recalculation of rates, thatthe Department 

had previously approved. The Commonwealth Court dismissed 

plaintiff's complaint. 

On appeal to the Supreme Court, appellant Ciamaichelo 

contended that the Commonwealth Court had made two errors, 

namely that the comp!aint attempted to secure judicial regulation of 

rates and reserves and failed to recognize that the claims under the 

non-profit law were committed to the jurisdiction of the Court of 

Common Pleas. Blue Cross countered claiming that since the 

amount that an insurer holds in surplus is a function of the rates, the 

appellant's challenge to excess surplus is necessarily a challenge to 

the rates charged. 

At p. 1217 of the opinion, the following appears: 

We agree with Appellants. At this juncture in the 
proceedings, on preliminary objections, we do not 
conclude that it is clear and free from doubt that 
Appellant's complaint amounts to nothing more than a 
request that the Court of Common Pleas second-guess 
an approved rate, as Independence Blue Cross argues, 
or that the court assume the Department's regulations 
of IBC's reserves or risk-based capital. (Citing cases.) 
Rather, we view the complaint as raising whether IBC 
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violated the Non-Profit Law and committed breaches of 
contractual and fiduciary duties in amassing a fund 
designated as surplus that was in amount, over and 
above that necessary for IBC to operate properly, meet 
its legal obligations or secure its financial solvency, and 
in dedicating that fund to certain purposes. 

At p. 1218, the court also stated: 

Further, our view of the complaint leads us also to reject 
dismissal of the Complaint on the grounds that 
Appellants seek judicial review of an approved rate and 
the sweeping inference to be drawn from the 
Commonwealth Court's reasoning that allegations in a 
complaint that could lead to an adjustment of an 
insured's approved rate invariably amounted to a rate 
injury claim. As we discussed, the complaint does not 
allege a rate injury claim. Therefore, we hold that the 
Commonwealth Court erred in sustaining IBC's 
preliminary objections in the nature of a demurrer to 
the complaint under the filed rate doctrine. 

The $348 million amount of surplus alleged by plaintiff 

Ciamaichelo was far less than the over $1 billion surplus plaintiffs 

have alleged that defendant PREMERA Blue Cross was holding at 

the time the instant case was filed. 

3. Filed Rate Doctrine Issue (c) 
Did the Trial Court Err by Ignoring Tenore v. AT& T Wireless 

Services and the Other False Advertising Cases Rejecting the 
Application of the Filed Rate Doctrine? 

In Spielholz v. Superior Court, 86 Cal,AppAth 1366 (2001)

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