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

numerous courts have applied the doctrine to dismiss claims that an 

insurer fraudulently induced insureds to purchase a policy and/or made 

false or deceptive statements regarding the filed rates. Clark v. Prudential 

Ins. Co. of Am., 736 F. Supp. 2d 902,919-20 (D.N.J. 2010) ("[T]here is no 
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fraud exception to the filed rate doctrine .... Where fraud is present, the 

courts have left enforcement to the regulators, who are best situated to 

discover when regulated entities engage in fraud and to remedy fraud 

when it arises.") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); Horwitz 

v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 745 N.E.2d 591, 605 (Ill. Ct. App. 2001) (case 

dismissed based on the filed rate doctrine because "the damages sought by 

plaintiff for consumer fraud would require the court to ascertain what 

would be a reasonable [health insurance] rate absent the [alleged] fraud"); 

Richardson v. Standard Guar. Ins. Co., 853 A.2d 955,967 (N.J. Super. Ct. 

App. 2004) (filed rate doctrine "precludes fraud claims because it operates 

on the presumption that the plaintiff had knowledge of the filed rates and, 

thus, could not reasonably rely upon the regulated entity's 

misrepresentations or omissions of material facts"). It even applies to 

allegations that the insurer obtained approval for a rate through fraud on 

the agency. Fersco v. Empire Blue Cross & Blue Shield, 1994 WL 

445730, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 1994) (dismissing claims alleging fraud 

on the agency because '''any "filed rate"-that is, one approved by the 

governing regulatory agency-is per se reasonable and unassailable in 

judicial proceedings brought by ratepayers'" (citing Wegoland, 27 F.3d at 

18));; In re Empire Blue Cross & Blue Shield Customer Litig., 622 

N. Y.S.2d 843, 848, 164 Misc. 2d 350, 358 (N. Y. Sup. Ct. 1994), ajJ'd sub 
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nom. , Minihane v. Weissman, 640 N.Y.S.2d 102, 226 A.D.2d 152 (N.Y. 

App. Div. 1996) ("[T]he fact that the remedy sought can be characterized 

as damages for fraud does not negate the fact that the court would be 

determining the reasonableness of rates.' ... The ascertaining of damages 

and the determination of a reasonable rate are 'hopelessly intertwined.") 

(internal quotations omitted). 

These cases agree that, like a direct attack on the reasonableness of 

a rate, claims of false advertising or even fraud that requires a reevaluation 

of an approved rate is still barred by the filed rate doctrine. This is so 

because "it is not the nature of the relief, nor the name of the cause of 

action, which triggers the doctrine," but whether "the damages sought by 

plaintiff for consumer fraud would require the court to ascertain what 

would be a reasonable rate absent the [alleged] fraud ." Horwitz, 745 

N.E.2d at 605 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); Clark, 736 

F. Supp. 2d at 919 (same); Empire Blue Cross, 164 Misc. 2d at 358 

(same). Here too, Plaintiffs cannot escape their own complaint: the only 

damages they seek are a refund of the allegedly excessive rates. CP 15-

16, 28 (~~ 30(d), 65 & 66). For all the same reasons discussed above, any 

such award would conflict with the orc's finding that Premera' s rates 

were reasonable and, worse yet, require a court or jury to determine what a 

reasonable rate should have been. The filed rate doctrine forbids both. 
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Although the complaint does not allege "selective underwriting," 

see CP 1-29, Plaintiffs now attempt to create a claim under this name by 

asserting that W AHIT really does not qualify as an Association and that 

the OlC should not have allowed WAHIT to be rated as a large group. See 

Opening Br. at 8-9, 28-31; CP 226-28 (Fackler Decl.) ,-r,-r 3-11. This is 

really just a claim of fraud on the regulator in the rate making process, a 

claim that is also barred by the filed rate doctrine. See, e.g., Empire, 622 

N.Y.S.2d at 848; Clark, 736 F. Supp. 2d at 919-20. This "selective 

underwriting" theory, like plaintiffs' other earlier articulated theories, 

violates the central tenet of the filed-rate doctrine - it would require a 

court to second-guess the OlC in its rate review process, and ultimately 

require a recalculation of the OlC approved rate.4 

None of the cases cited by Plaintiffs recognize a false advertising 

or fraud exception to the filed rate doctrine; most have nothing to do with 

the doctrine. The primary issue in Spielholz v. Superior Court, 86 Cal. 

App. 4th 1366, 104 Cal. Rptr. 2d 197 (2001), Ball v. GTE Mobilnet of 

Cal., 81 Cal. App. 4th 529, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 801 (2000), and Kellerman v. 

4 Plaintiffs cite two cases for the proposition that "a challenge to 
wrongful underwriting practices does not involve the filed rate doctrine," 
Opening Br. at 31-32, but both cases- Donabedian v. Mercury ins. Co., 
116 Cal. App. 4th 968, 11 Cal. Rptr. 3d 45 (2004) and Krumme v. Mercury 
ins. Co., 123 Cal. App. 4th 924, 20 Cal. Rptr. 3d 484 (2004)-were 
decided on the basis of California's unique Unfair Competition Law and 
other statutes without any reference to the filed rate doctrine. 
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MCI Telecomm. Corp., 112 Ill. 2d 428, 493 N .E.2d 1045 (Ill. 1986), like 

the Washington Supreme Court's decision in Tenore, was whether the 

plaintiffs' state law claims were preempted by the Federal 

Communications Act-not whether they were precluded by the filed rate 

doctrine; neither Ball nor Kellerman even mention the doctrine. Spielholz 

mentions it, but, just like the Tenore court, concluded that the filed rate 

doctrine was obviously inapplicable because "wireless telephone service 

providers ... are exempt from the tariff filing requirement." 86 Cal. App. 

4th at 1380. 

Plaintiffs' reliance on Qwest Corp. v. Kelly, 59 P.3d 789 (Ariz. Ct. 

App. 2002), is similarly misguided. Plaintiffs alleged that Qwest engaged 

in deceptive practices in selling a wire maintenance service that it knew 

plaintiffs (as residential tenants rather than homeowners) did not need. Id 

at 790. The Court rejected Qwest's filed rate defense because "the claims 

have nothing to do with the reasonableness of the rate charged for the ... 

kinds of services offered and sold .... " Id at 801. Plaintiffs did not allege 

they overpaid for the service or that it was different than advertised, just 

that they didn't need it. Thus, unlike here, plaintiffs' claim would not 

require a court to second-guess agency approval of the filed utility rate nor 

recalculate that rate to award plaintiffs damages. Id; see also Crumley v. 

Time Warner Cable, Inc., 554 F. Supp. 2d 933, 942 (D. Minn. 2008) 
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(distinguishing Qwest on the grounds that the "case involved a question 

about whether the tenants should have been charged at all, rather than 

what charge was appropriate" (emphasis in original». 

Finally, it is important to note that application of the filed rate 

doctrine to OIC-approved rates would not leave ratepayers helpless to 

challenge the reasonableness of rates. As discussed below, ratepayers 

have an administrative means to challenge the OIC's approval of allegedly 

excessive rates, which includes an opportunity for judicial review. See 

RCW 48.04.010. That Plaintiffs admittedly failed to avail themselves of 

this opportunity should not weigh against application of the filed rate 

doctrine in this case, but simply provides another reason why their claims 

were properly dismissed. 

B. Plaintiffs Failed To Exhaust Administrative Remedies. 

Under settled Washington law, when the OIC can redress a claim 

in the first instance, the administrative remedy must be exhausted before a 

plaintiff can bring suit; failure to exhaust requires dismissal. See Taylor v. 

Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108102, at *4 (W.D. 

Wash. Aug. 29,2008); Retail Store Employees Union v. Wash. Surveying 

& Ratings Bureau, 87 Wn.2d 887, 906-07, 558 P.2d 215 (1976); Credit 

Gen. Ins. Co. v. Zewdu, 82 Wn. App. 620, 625, 919 P.2d 93 (Wn. App. 

1996). Like the filed rate doctrine, the exhaustion requirement is based on 
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the principle that the judiciary should gIve deference to an agency's 

expertise in an area outside the conventional experiences of judges. Retail 

Store, 87 Wn.2d at 906.5 

As a second and related basis for dismissal, the trial court found 

that Plaintiffs failed to exhaust their administrative remedies. 9/28/2012 

Tr. at 32:23-33:3; 1/4/13 Tr. at 36:11-13. This too was correct as a matter 

of law. For all the same reasons detailed above, Plaintiffs' claims are 

subsumed by the Insurance Code's comprehensive regulatory scheme and 

the OIC's plenary authority over the rates health care service contractors 

charge their members. That scheme requires the OIC to review Premera's 

proposed rates, including those for WAHIT's employer-members, and its 

surplus levels, to determine whether the rates comply with the Code's rate-

setting methodology, and to disapprove those rates that are 

"unreasonable." RCW 48.44.017, 48.44.020, 48.44.021, 48.44.022, 

48.44.023, 48.44.040; WAC 284-43-915, 284-43-925, 284-43-930, 284-

5 Plaintiffs' citation to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) is 
inapposite. Opening Br. at 42-43 (quoting RCW 34.05.534). As this 
Court has recognized, the AP A applies only when a person appeals an 
adverse agency order to superior court. Zewdu, 82 Wn. App. at 628 n.2. 
Because Plaintiffs did not ask for a hearing to administratively challenge 
the OIC's approval of Premera's rates under RCW 48.04.010, or appeal 
any order resulting from such a hearing, the AP A and its exhaustion 
standard is irrelevant. Id. And, even if it applied by analogy, for the same 
reasons explained below, Plaintiffs' remedies were not "patently 
inadequate" nor was the exhaustion requirement "futile" in this case. 
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43-950; CP 323; 333. The OIC also has authority to issue cease-and-

desist orders to enjoin violations of the Code, including false and 

deceptive advertising. RCW 48.02.080, 48.44.110. 

Just as important for purposes of exhaustion, the Insurance Code 

gave Plaintiffs an administrative means of challenging Premera's rates. 

The Code provides that the OIC "shall" hold a hearing upon receipt of a 

written demand "made by any person aggrieved by any act ... , or failure 

of the commissioner to act .... " RCW 48.04.010(1). If a person fails to 

demand that hearing within 90 days of notice of OIC approval, "the right 

to such a hearing shall conclusively be deemed to have been waived." 

RCW 48.04.010(3). This remedy is mandatory and, thus, plan members 

disputing the reasonableness of a health care service contractor's rate must 

first administratively challenge the OIC's approval of that rate. Taylor, 

2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108102, at *4-16; Retail Store, 87 Wn.2d at 906-

07; 1963 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 59, 1963 WL 65456, at *7 ("insured affected 

by an increase ... in his insurance rates may demand a full hearing before 

the [OIC] pursuant to RCW 48.04.010,,).6 Plaintiffs did not do so. The 

trial court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' claims on this basis too. 

6 In the trial court, Plaintiffs argued that the statute upon which the 
Attorney General's opinion relied was repealed and, thus, the opinion no 
longer reflected Washington law. CP 197-98. This is incorrect. The 
Opinion relied on RCW 48.04.010 for the proposition that insureds must 
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The Supreme Court's decision in Retail Store Employees Union 

controls here. Plaintiffs alleged, among other things, that an insurance 

rating bureau to which they subscribed had set and filed "improperly high" 

premium rates with the OIC. 87 Wn.2d at 889-91. In dismissing 

plaintiffs' claims on exhaustion grounds, the Court held that the plaintiffs 

had to administratively challenge the rates before filing suit: 

The complaint of the union and its members alleges improper 
rating of plaintiff-owned buildings resulting in unlawfully high fire 
insurance rates, caused by improper management of the [rating] 
Bureau. The administrative remedy of RCW 48.19.310 and RCW 
48.04 establishes clearly defined machinery for the submission, 
evaluation and resolution of complaints by aggrieved parties. . .. 
Exhaustion of the administrative remedy is a jurisdictional 
prerequisite to resort to the courts. Thus, if the union and member 
plaintiffs desire to pursue their other claims, they must first utilize 
the procedures provided in RCW 48.19.310 and RCW 48.04. 

Id. at 906-07 (quotation marks and citation omitted). More recently, the 

district court for the Western District of Washington dismissed a class 

action lawsuit challenging an insurer's allegedly excessive rates for failure 

request a hearing with the OIC to challenge rate increases. 1963 WL 
65456, at *7. That statute is the same today as it was in 1963. The 
Opinion went on to say that if the insured was unhappy with the OIC's 
decision after such a hearing, he or she could "appeal to the superior court 
... pursuant to RCW 48.04.1 00." RCW 48.04.1 00 was repealed with the 
adoption of the APA, currently codified in RCW 34.05 et seq. That 
change did not affect RCW 48.04.010 and, in any event, Plaintiffs' 
administrative appeal rights are wholly irrelevant here. Plaintiffs did not 
demand a hearing from the OIC, did not receive an order from the OIC 
and, thus, did not file an appeal of any agency action in superior court 
under the AP A or otherwise. 
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to exhaust administrative remedies because, like here, the insureds did not 

challenge the OIC's approval of those rates. Taylor, 2008 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 108102, at * 14-15. Many state and federal courts have similarly 

dismissed challenges to agency-approved insurance rates on this basis.7 

Plaintiffs concede that RCW 48.04.010 provided them a means to 

challenge Premera's rate increases, but argue that their failure to exhaust 

that remedy is excused because the OIC has no authority to award money 

damages. Opening Br. at 40-43. This claim fails as a matter of law. Even 

when an administrative remedy is not the precise relief sought, or will not 

afford "complete relief," the remedy may be adequate to require 

exhaustion. Zewdu, 82 Wn. App. at 625 (citing Dioxin/Organochlorine 

Ctr. v. Dep 't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 761, 777, 837 P.2d 1007 (1992». 

Critically, "the adequacy of the remedy must be measured from the time 

the administrative remedy was available." Id. at 627. Thus, the issue is 

not whether the OIC has authority to order Premera to pay damages for 

rates it charged in the past, but whether the OIC had the authority to 

prevent Premera from increasing those rates in the first instance. 

7 See, e.g., Melder v. Allstate Corp., 404 F.3d 328 (5th Cir. 2005); 
McLiechey v. Bristol W Ins. Co., 408 F. Supp. 2d 516 (W.D. Mich. 2006); 
Allen v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 59 F. Supp. 2d 1217 (S.D. Ala. 
1999); Ex parte Cincinnati Ins. Co., 51 So. 3d 298 (Ala. 2010); State 
Farm Mut. Auto. v. Gibbons, 860 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. Ct. App. 2003); 
D.A.X, Inc. v. Employers Ins. of Wausau, 659 N.E.2d 1150 (Ind. Ct. App. 
1996); Prentiss v. Allstate Ins. Co., 548 S.E.2d 557 (N.C. Ct. App. 2001). 
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The OIC unquestionably had that authority, including the authority 

to reject proposed rate increases after considering Premera's surplus-

which it has done. RCW 48.44.020; WAC 284-43-915; CP 333. Had 

Plaintiffs challenged the rates when they were originally approved, as they 

were entitled to do, and succeeded in convincing the OIC to disapprove 

them, then there never would have been any allegedly unreasonable rates 

in the first place, nor any accumulation of allegedly excessive surplus; the 

administrative remedies would have been more than "adequate." Simply 

put, Plaintiffs cannot exploit their own failure to exhaust administrative 

remedies in years past to argue that the remedies are inadequate or futile 

now; any other result would reward Plaintiffs for sleeping on their rights.8 

The district court's decision in Taylor is on point. There, as here, 

plaintiffs brought a class action lawsuit against their insurer alleging they 

were harmed by an increase in insurance rates; there, like here, the OIC 

8 In contrast, State v. Tacoma-Pierce County Multiple Listing 
Service, 95 Wn.2d 280, 622 P.2d 1190 (1980), relied upon by Plaintiffs, 
provides a good example of when administrative remedies are not 
adequate. There, the State brought an action under the CPA alleging that 
several realtor groups engaged in a conspiracy to exclude competition 
when they denied non-members access to the Multiple Listing Service 
directory of house listings. The realtors argued that the State should have 
sought an administrative decision from the Real Estate Commission or 
Department of Licensing first. The Court easily rejected that argument 
because the Commission and the Department had no authority to regulate 
multiple listing associations, much less enjoin the challenged behavior. 
Id. at 284. Here, the OIC does have authority over rate-setting and can 
(and does) disapprove Premera's proposed rates. 
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approved those rates under its comprehensive regulatory authority; and 

there, like here, plaintiffs failed to exhaust administrative remedies to 

challenge the OIC's approval. In addressing, and rejecting, the very same 

arguments Plaintiffs make here, the court concluded as follows:

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